IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

)

Inre ) No. S189275
)

WILLIAM RICHARDS, ) Court of Appeal No. E049135
)

Petitioner, ) San Bernardino Superior Court
) No. SWHSS700444

On Habeas Corpus. ) Criminal Case No. FVI00826
)

PETITIONER’S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

(1) When a petitioner seeks relief on habeas corpus because an
expert witness who testified at trial later fundamentally alters the
opinion he or she rendered, should this be viewed as a claim that
false evidence substantially material or probative on the issue of
guilt was presented at trial or as a claim that newly discovered
evidence casts “fundamental doubt on the accuracy and
reliability of the proceedings” and “"undermine[s] the entire
prosecution case and point[s] unerringly to innocence or reduced
culpability”? (In re Hardy (2007) 41 Cal.4th 977, 1016.)

(2) Is petitioner entitled to relief on either ground in this case?

(3) Is petitioner entitled to habeas corpus relief based on newly
discovered DNA evidence?

INTRODUCTION
In July of 1997, Williams Richards was convicted of killing his wife,
Pamela Richards (“Pamela”). The evidence against Richards was limited and

circumstantial. Two trials ended in hung juries. In each, the prosecution relied



on blood spatter evidence, the absence of evidence indicating the presence of
a third party at the crime scene, a tuft of blue fibers found in a crack of
Pamela’s fingernail which was similar to the fibers in a shirt that Richards had
worn on the night of the murder, and evidence of some marital discord. It was
not until the third full trial that the prosecution, for the first time, introduced
evidence suggesting Richards was responsible for a bitemark found on Pamela
and that only 2% of the population had a dentition which could have made that
bitemark. That trial resulted in Richards’ conviction.

In December of 2007, Richards filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus
alleging that the bitemark evidence used to convict him was false and that new
forensic tools now excluded him as the person responsible for the bitemark.
The petition also alleged that new evidénce, obtained through DNA testing,
showed that someone other than Richards held one of the murder weapons
exactly where the prosecution suspected the murderer’s DNA would be found.
The petition also alleged that DNA test results showed that a hair belonging
to someone other than Richards had been found under the victim’s fingernail.
Finally, the petition alleged that the tuft of fiber similar to the material in
Richards’ shirt had not become lodged ‘in the victim’s fingernail during
Pamela’s struggle with her killer. Instead, the fibers must have become lodged

in the nail after the autopsy.



At an evidentiary hearing, the prosecution witness who had provided
false bitemark statistics at trial acknowledged that there was no factual basis
for them. After the application of new computer-based photo analysis to
correct for distortion, that same prosecution witness (and other forensic
odontologists) testified that the bitemark relied upon by the prosecution did not
match Richards’ dentition and excluded him as the person respoﬁsible for the
bitemark.

At the hearing, Richards also produced other new evidence, in the form
of DNA test results, which refuted the prosecution’s claim that there was no
evidence that anyone other than Richards had been present on the night of the
murder. DNA test results showed that a two centimeter hair found under
Pamela’s fingernail — likely lodged there during her struggle with her killer —
came from someone other than Richards. In addition, DNA test results
showed that DNA belonging to an unknown male was found on a stepping
stone, which the prosecution claimed the killer used as a weapon, in the
location that the prosecution suggested the killer’s DNA would be found.

Finally, Richards produced pictures of Pamela’s right middle finger,
both before and aﬂe; the autopsy, which graphically demonstrated that fibers
attributed to Richards’ shirt was not lodged in the fingernail prior to autopsy.

After hearing all of the evidence and argument, and after reviewing the



transcripts from the underlying trial, the superior court concluded that the
evidence presented created a “fundamental doubt . . . as to the accuracy and
reliability of the evidence presented at trial.” (2 R.T. 481.") In addition, the
court found that the evidence presented at the hearing undermined the “entire
prosecution case” and that petitioner had met his burden of proof by showing
the evidence presented “points unerringly to innocence.” (2 R.T. 481.)

The Court of Appeal reversed in an opinion which did not fully
consider the evidence adduced, did not give appropriate deference to the
superior court’s factual determinations, and did not apply the appropriate legal
standards. Accordingly, this Court should reverse and reinstate the superior
court’s decision granting Richards’ petition for writ of habeas corpus.

STATEMENT OF THE CASiE

The San Bernardino District Attorney’s Office charged Richards with
one count of murder in violation of Penal Code section 187. (1 Tr. C.T. 5.)

Richards’ first jury trial commenced July 6,1994. (1 Tr. C.T.228.) On
August 29, 1994, the court declared a mistrial after the jury could not reach a

verdict. (2 Tr. C.T. 417-20, 3 Tr. C.T. 871.) Richards’ second jury trial

1
References to the record on appeal from the grant of habeas relief
(E049135) will have the usual C.T. and R.T. references. References to the

record on appeal from the criminal conviction will be designated as “Tr.
R.T” and “Tr. C.T.”



commenced October 24, 1994. (2 Tr. C.T. 431-32.) On October 27, 1994, the
court recused itself during juror voir dire and declared a mistrial. (2 Tr. C.T.
433,3 Tr. C.T. 871.) Richards’ third jury trial commenced on November 15,
1994. (2 Tr. C.T. 438.) On January 9, 1995, the court again declared a
mistrial after the jury could not reach a verdict. (2 Tr. C.T. 474, 3 Tr. C.T.
871.) On May 29, 1997, Richards’ third full jury trial commenced. (2 Tr. C.T.
532.) At the conclusion of this trial, Richards was convicted of first degree
murder and sentenced to twenty-five years to life. (3 Tr. C.T. 923.).

On August 17, 2000, the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District,
Division Two, affirmed the judgment. (Court of Appeal Case No. E024365.)

On December 5, 2007, Richards filed a petition for writ of habeas
corpus in the San Bernardino Superior Court alleging that false evidence was
introduced against him at trial and new evidence showed he was innocent. (1
A.C.T. 1-86.) Superior Court Judge Brian McCarville issued an order to show
cause and subsequently held an evidentiary hearing. (1 C.T. 180-81.) Atthe
conclusion of that hearing, Judge McCarville granted Richards’ petition and
vacated the judgment of conviction. (4 C.T. 1147-48, 1185.)

The People appealed, and o.n November 19, 2010, the Court of Appeal
reversed. On December 3, 2010, the Court of Appeal denied a petition for

rehearing. On February 23, 2011, this Court granted review.



STATEMENT OF FACTS

Because the issues in this case will require a comparison of the
evidence presented at the trial which resulted in Richards’ conviction with the
evidence presented at hearing on Richards’ petition for writ of habeas corpus,
each set of facts will be presented separately.

A. FACTS ADDUCED AT TRIAL.

On August 10, 1993, Pamela Richards was severely beaten with
fist-sized rocks, manually strangled, and a cinder block and stepping stone
were used to crush her skull. (3 Tr. R.T. 380; 5 Tr. R.T. 962.) Testimony
indicated that strangulation was most likely the cause of death. (3 Tr. R.T.
365.) The beating took place on her property outside of her home. (2 Tr. R.T.
252; 5 Tr. R.T. 975.) There, the killer dropped a cinder block on I;er head,
crushing her skull and creating blood spatter for a radius of fifteen feet. (3 Tr.
R.T.378; 5 Tr. R.T. 976, 1035.)

The Prosecution’s Case: “It must have been Richards.”

Right from the beginning, the police concluded that Richards was lying
about what happened, and the investigation and prosecution focused on
Richards as the person responsible for Pamela’s death.

On the night of August 10, 1993, Richards clocked out of work at 11:03

p.m. and drove home. (5 Tr. R.T. 867.) San Bernardino County Sheriff



Deputy Navarro recreated the drive from Richards’ work to his home and
determined that if Richards left his place of employment at 11:06 p.m. and
kept up with the flow of traffic, it would have taken forty-one minutes for
Richards to drive home. (5 Tr. R.T. 867-72.) Based on this analysis, police
believed Richards arrived home at 11:47 p.m. (5 Tr. R.T. 872.)

According to Richards, upon his arrival at home on the night of
Pamela’s murder, he initially noted that no lights were on. (4 Tr. R.T. 645; 8
Tr. R.T. 1849.) Richards went to the shed and had a glass of iced tea. (8 Tr.
R.T. 1849.) He then left the shed, walked toward the trailer, and saw his wife
laying face down by the porch. (4 Tr. R.T. 592.) He turned her over to see
what was wrong, and his fingers went into a hole in her head. (4 Tr.R.T. 592.)
Richards cradled his wife, and then he heard the phone ring. (4 Tr.R.T. 557.)

At approximately 11:55 p.m., Eugene Price (Pamela’s former lover)
called Richards’ residence, and Richards answered the phone. (4 Tr. R.T.
557.) Thus, even relying on the prosecution’s time line and theory of the case,
Richards had only eight minutes in which to kill his wife. (4 Tr. R.T. 557; 6
Tr.R.T. 1382.)

Richards told Price that Pamela was dead. (4 Tr. R.T. 559.) Richards
asked Price what he should do, and Price told him to call 911. (4 Tr. R.T.

561.) Price characterized Richards as being stressed and in need of help and



guidance during the phone conversation. (4 Tr. R.T. 561.)

At 11:58 p.m., Richards called 911 and reported his wife was dead. (2
Tr. R.T. 168.) Richards placed two more calls to 911 at 12:06 a.m. and 12:33
a.m., frantically urging officers to hurry. (2 Tr. R.T. 168-69.)

The responding officer, Deputy Mark Nourse, arrived on the scene
shortly after 12:30 a.m. (4 Tr. R.T. 580.) Richards flashed the headlights on
his truck to guide Nourse to his property. (4 Tr. R.T. 582.)

Nourse testified that it was very dark when he reached the scene and
that he found Richards standing next to his truck. (4 Tr. R.T. 584, 586.)
Richards directed Nourse to the victim’s body and told Nourse his wife was
“stone cold dead, you don’t have to check her out, she has been dead for along
time. I know that because the battery is dead on the Toyota.” (4 Tr.R.T. 590.)
Richards told Nourse he’d found the victim face down and he’d turned her
over. (4 Tr.R.T. 592.) Nourse testified he put on surgical gloves and checked
the body. To his gloved touch, the wrist was pliable and the body was “neither
cold nor warm.” (4 Tr. R.T. 636.)

Nourse did not investigate the scene at that time. (4 Tr. R.T. 683.)
Homicide detectives did not arrive on the scene until 3:15 am. (2 Tr. R.T.
228.) After the first officer responded to the scene, three or four dogs entered

the crime scene. (4 Tr. R.T. 642.) Because it was dark, the detectives decided



not to process the scene until first light (approximately 6:00 a.m.) more than
six hours after the body was found. (1 Tr.R.T.94;2 Tr. R.T. 327.)

Detective Parent and his team found the victim covered by a sleeping
bag; she was naked from the waist down except for a pair of socks. (2 Tr.R.T.
232.) A twelve-by-twelve-by-two-inch stepping stone was found north of the
victim. (2 Tr. R.T. 193, 230.) The stone was labeled item 25 at the scene,
later identified as A-18, and marked with evidence number 139 for
identification purposes at trial. (2 Tr. R.T. 193, 246.) Criminologist David
Stockwell of the San Bernardino Sheriff’s Department testified that he tested
genetic markers from eight stains taken from this stepping stone, and all were
consistent with the victim’s blood. (4 Tr. R.T. 742-43.)

The prosecutor repeatedly elicited testimony and argued that no one
other than Richards could have committed the murder because there was no
evidence of anyone other than Richards and the victim at the murder scene.
(1 Tr. R.T. 62-65, 81; 2 Tr. R.T. 270, 274, 278; 4 Tr. R.T. 587; 7 Tr. R.T.
1669; 8 Tr. R.T. 1789, 1790, 1793, 1799, 1913-14, 1924, 1932.) According
to Detective Parent, all shoe prints found at the scene were accounted for. (1
Tr. R.T. 273.) However, the ground was not good for finding such prints and
Richards’ shoe prints were not found in the areas where the struggle occurred. -

(Tr. R.T. 301-04, 323.)



At the autopsy, before Pamela’s right index and middle fingertips were
severed and delivered to criminalist Daniel Gregonis, criminalist Craig Ogino
received scrapings from Pamela’s fingernails. (4 Tr. R.T.698.) Ogino looked
at the fingernails under a stereo microscope. (4 Tr. R.T. 699.) He never
reported that a tuft of blue fibers was lodged in a crack in Pamela’s right
middle fingernail. Ogino analyzed the evidence taken from the fingernails of
the victim’s right hand. (4 Tr. R.T. 699.) He found a large amount of soil and
blood, one tri-lobule synthetic fiber, one dark-blue wool fiber, one dark hair,
and one blond hair. (4 Tr. R.T. 700.) At trial, Gregonis testified, “there is no
hair that was consistent with anyone but Pamela Richards on Pamela
Richards.” (6 Tr.R.T. 1155.) Blood under her fingernails was consistent with
her own. (5 Tr. R.T. 731.)

However, Gregonis classified a tuft of blue cotton fibers that ke later
discovered as relevant to the investigation, because he found it “jammed” in
a crack in the victim’s right middle fingernail. (6 Tr. R.T. 1256.) At trial,
Gregonis testified that after microscopic testing, under a ﬂoresceht
microscope, and with microspectometry, this tuft of blue cotton fibers was
indistinguishable from fibers in the blue cotton shirt Richards wore the night
Pamela was murdered. (5 Tr. R.T. 922-25; 6 Tr. R.T. 1330.) Gregonis

established that the fibers were recovered from a deep crack in Pamela’s

10



fingemnail by showing to the jury a videotape of their removal. (4 Tr.R.T. 715,
919, 921-22; 6 Tr. R.T. 1251.) The video was recorded after the fingertips
from the victim’s right hand were severed at the autopsy. (5 Tr. R.T. 918.)

Gregonis testified regarding blood spatter found at the crime scene. He
found 30 to 40 blood stains on the victim’s pants and believed that twelve of
these stains were from medium energy spatter. (5 Tr. R.T. 973-74,977.) No
spatter was found on her legs. As a result, Gregonis opined that the victim was
wearing her pants when her skull was caved in. (5 Tr.R.T. 977-78.) Gregonis
also testified that a few spots that could be interpreted as medium energy blood
spatter were also found on Richards’ pants. (5 Tr. R.T. 1010.) Gregonis
testified that these stains were from different directions and consistent with
two separate events. (5 Tr. R.T. 1010.)

Gregonis also testified that there was “evidence of manipulation of the
crime scene.” (5 Tr. R.T. 1082-83.) When asked what evidence he had to
support that claim, Gregonis referred to some alleged diluted blood next to the
victim’s head. (5 Tr. R.T. 1083.) However, Gregonis never wrote about any
alleged diluted blood in his crime scene notes and never mentioned any alleged
diluted blood during the three prior occasions when he was called to testify in
Richards’ case. (5 Tr. R.T. 1083-84.)

Dr. Norman Sperber, the chief forensic dentist for San Diego and

11



Imperial Counties, testified for the prosecution. (6 Tr. R.T. 1170.) He
testified that he was board certified by the American Board of Forensic
Odontology (“ABFO”) and was a diplomat of the ABFO. (6 Tr.R.T. 1163.)

Dr. Sperber testified that he examined a single autopsy photograph of the
dorsal side of the victim’s right hand and identified a lesion (i.e., bruise) which
he concluded was a human bitemark made by the lower teeth. (6 Tr. R.T.
1170, 1172, 1177-78.) Sperber testified that the lesion had “a roundness only
seen in bitemarks.” (6 Tr. R.T. 1177.)

Dr. Sperber testified that he examined the photograph and stated there
were two problems causing distortion: (1) the photograph was not taken from
an ideal position; and (2) the ruler used in the photograph was not in the
correct position. (6 Tr. R.T. 1198-1200.) Dr. Sperber testified the angular
distortion was “definitely a factor” in the certainty of his analysis. (6 Tr. R.T.
1199.) The photo also lacked detail; individual teeth in the injury could not be
measured because the edges of the teeth were not visible in the photo. (6 Tr.
R.T. 1200-01.)

Dr. Sperber could only draw the conclusion that the edges of the teeth
were somewhere in the general area of the mark. (6 Tr. R.T. 1200.) From that
single distorted photograph, Sperber opined that whoever left the mark had a

rather distinctive abnormality relative to their lower right canine tooth. (6 Tr.

12



R.T. 1202.)

Based upon a molding Dr. Sperber made of Richards’ mouth, he
determined that Richards had the same distinctive abnormality. (6 Tr. R.T.
1203.) Dr. Sperber testified that Richards’ abnormal tooth (tooth number 27)
would not leave a mark on the skin because it was shorter than his other teeth.
(6 Tr. R.T. 1207.) Dr. Sperber testified “one or two or less” out of one
hundred people would have such an abnormality. (6 Tr. R.T. 1212-13.) He
stated he could not rule out Richards as the person who left the bitemark. (6
Tr. R.T. 1214.) Dr. Sperber opined that the bitemark was consistent with
Richards’ teeth. (6 Tr.R.T. 1214.)

Sergeant Bradford testified that the day after the murder, investigators
took pictures of Richards and collected all the clothes he was wearing the night
his wife was killed. (4 Tr. R.T. 793-94, 796.) They also took pictures of
Richards’ hands. (4 Tr. R.T. 798-801.) No indications of cuts, abrasions, or
wounds were found on Richards. (4 Tr.R.T. 813-15.) Criminologist Gregonis
opined that the perpetrator used his hands, the stepping stone, and the cinder
block to batter the victim. (5 Tr. R.T. 1010-11, 1102.)

Dr. Frank Sheridan, Chief Medical Examiner for the Coroner’s Office
of San Bernardino County, testified that he performed an autopsy on the

victim’s body on August 13, 1993. (3 Tr. R.T. 346, 359.) Sheridan testified

13



that Pamela had suffered extensive blunt force trauma to the face and several
defensive wounds. (3 Tr.R.T. 356, 360.) Dr. Sheridan opined that the victim
had been manually strangled and suffered blunt force trauma to her skull,
eitﬁer of which could have been fatal on its own. (3 Tr. R.T. 362, 365, 373,
375,377.) Dr. Sheridan gave no opinion as to time of death. (3 Tr.R.T. 431.)

Dr. Sheridan testified he found pronounced marks on Pamela’s buttocks
area from pebbies, indicating she had been lying on her back for some time
after she had died. (3 Tr. R.T. 409-10.) Dr. Sheridan could not say she had
died in that position. (3 Tr. R.T. 410.) He did not find similar marks on her
breasts. (3 Tr. R.T. 412.) However, as indicated, when the body was
discovered, Pamela had a shirt on, but was naked from the waist down. (2 Tr.
R.T. 232))

Dr. Sheridan found evidence of lividity on Pamela’s back. (3 Tr.R.T.
393.) According to Dr. Sheridan, it usually takes at least two hours for lividity
to become obvious, and it becomes fixed at six to ten hours. (3 Tr. R.T. 394,
397.) These findings were consistent with Richards’ claim that he found
Pamela on her stomach and then rolled her over. (4 Tr. R.T. 592.) Crime
scene photos show Pamela on her back. Her body had been in that position
from at least midnight to six a.m. (2 Tr. R.T. 179.)

Dr. Sheridan also testified that rigor mortis becomes noticeable about

14



two hours after death. (3 Tr. R.T. 426.) Thus, even if one accepts Nourse’s
lay testimony that Pamela’s body was pliabie, it does not mean that the murder
happened just minutes before he arrived. It could have happened hours before
Richards arrived home.

Defense Case: Shoddy Police Work and Inconsistent Evidence

Dr. David Thomas testified that it was difficult to estimate a precise
time of death, because tests routinely conducted to aid in that determination
were not conducted by the coroner or the coroner’s investigator. (7 Tr. R.T.
1408-11, 1467.) Dr. Thomas testified that the determination was difficult,
because neither the liver temperature nor the core temperature were measured
at the scene, rigor mortis was not assessed upon the discovery of the body, and
an inadequate number of microscopic sections of the victim’s injuries were
collected and preserved at the autopsy. (7 Tr. R.T. 1408-11, 1415, 1417,
1426.) According to Dr. Thomas, several tests which the coroner’s office
neglected to conduct are standard practices for determining time of death. (7
Tr. R.T. 1474))

Perhaps because the focus was on Richards, officers failed to
investigate several clues that could have established a clearer time line. They
did not feel the hood of the victim’s car, although the driver’s door was ajar

(2 Tr. R.T. 318, 521), and Richards told the police the car’s battery was dead

15

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