IN THE SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT FILED

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JUN 17 2011

Frederick K. Ommen elerk

WILLIAM RICHARDS,

Petitioner,

υ.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Respondent,

Case No. **S189275**

Deputy/

(San Bernardino Superior Court Case No. **SWHSS700444**)

(San Bernardino Superior Court Criminal Case No. **FVI00826**)

(Related Appeal Case Nos. **E049135, E024365, E023171, E013944**)

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Review Upon Decision of the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Reversing the Grant of a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus

MICHAEL A. RAMOS,

District Attorney County of San Bernardino

STEPHANIE H. ZEITLIN

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

ARGUMENT

I.

PETITIONER FAILED TO MEET HIS WELL-SETTLED BURDEN OF PROOF UNDER HABEAS CORPUS LAW AND HIS CLAIM OF "ACTUAL INNOCENCE". HE HAS NEITHER "COMPLETELY UNDERMINED THE STATE'S CASE" NOR HAS HE "POINTED UNERRINGLY TO HIS INNOCENCE."

"Habeas corpus will lie to vindicate a claim that **newly discovered evidence** demonstrates a prisoner is **actually** innocent." (Emphasis supplied.) (*In re Hardy* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 977, 1016.) This Court has long recognized the viability of an actual innocence habeas corpus claim, at least insofar as the claim is based on newly discovered evidence or on proof false evidence was introduced at trial. (*In re Bell* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 630, 637 [false evidence]; *In re Johnson* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 447, 453–454 [both]; *In re Hall* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 408, 415–417, 424 [both]; *In re Weber* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 703, 724 [new evidence].)

To obtain habeas corpus relief, the burden is on the petitioner to show there is newly discovered evidence that undermines the entire structure of the case upon which the prosecution is based. The evidence must point unerringly to the petitioner's innocence, and it must be conclusive. "It is not sufficient that the evidence might have weakened the prosecution case or presented a more difficult question for the judge or jury." (In re Clark (1993) 5 Cal.4th 750, 766; In re Weber (1974) 11 Cal.3d 703, 723-725.)

This standard is firmly established; it dates back to *In re Lindley* (1947) 29 Cal.2d 709.

"A criminal judgment may be collaterally attacked on habeas corpus on the basis of newly discovered evidence if such evidence casts 'fundamental doubt on the accuracy and reliability of the proceedings. At the guilt phase, such evidence, if credited, must undermine **the entire prosecution case** and **point unerringly** to innocence or reduced culpability.

(Emphasis supplied.) (*People v. Gonzalez* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179, 1246 [citations omitted].) If "a reasonable jury could have rejected" the evidence presented, petitioner has **not** satisfied his burden. (*In re Clark* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 750, 798, fn. 33.)

In *In re Lawley* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1231, 1239-1241, petitioner disputed this standard, arguing that it applied *only* to the determination whether a petitioner has shown actual innocence for purposes of overcoming procedural bars to habeas corpus relief. Lawley argued that he needed only to show by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to relief. (*e.g. In re Sassounian* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 535, 546 [habeas corpus petitioner bears the burden of proving facts entitling him to relief by a preponderance of the evidence].)

This Court rejected his claim and pointed out that:

"[W]e have consistently and consciously applied rather than the standard. this higher preponderance standard, to actual innocence claims. (See, e.g., In re Hardy, supra, 41 Cal.4th at pp. 1016-1021 [implicitly applying preponderance standard to ineffective assistance of counsel claim, but applying heightened Lindley standard to newly discovered evidence claim]; In re Johnson, supra, [acknowledging 460–462 pp. Cal.4th at generally applicable preponderance standard, but applying higher *Lindley* standard to actual innocence claim]; *In re Branch* (1969) 70 Cal.2d 200, 210, 217 [implicitly applying preponderance standard to ineffective assistance of counsel claim, but applying *heightened Lindley* standard to newly discovered evidence claim]; *In re Imbler* (1963) 60 Cal.2d 554, 560, 569 [applying preponderance standard to perjured testimony claim and heightened *Lindley* standard to newly discovered evidence claim].)."

(*Id.* at p. 1240.)

Even if petitioner could successfully argue the existence of new evidence to prove actual innocence, petitioner must show that his claims (1) undermine the prosecution's entire case and (2) the claims must point unerringly to petitioner's innocence. (In re Bell (2007) 42 Cal. 4th 630; In re Robbins (1998) 18 Cal.4th 770, 812; In re Clark (1993) 5 Cal.4th 750, 766.) In order to warrant relief, newly discovered evidence must be of such a character as to completely undermine the entire structure of the prosecution's case; this standard is met if: "(1) the new evidence is conclusive; and (2) points unerringly to innocence." (In re Weber (1974) 11 Cal.3d 703, 724.)

"Evidence relevant only to an issue already disputed at trial which does no more than conflict with trial evidence, does not constitute new evidence" (In re Clark, supra, at p. 798, fn. 33.) Rather, the "'new' evidence must cast fundamental doubt on the accuracy and reliability of the proceedings." (Clark, supra, 5 Cal.4th at p. 766.) For instance, "[a]n example of such evidence is a confession of guilt by a third party." (Emphasis supplied.) (In re Hardy (2007) 41 Cal.4th 977, 1015.) "Depriving an accused of facts that 'strongly' raise issues of reasonable doubt is not the standard. Where newly discovered evidence is the basis for a habeas corpus petition, as alleged [by petitioner], the newly

discovered evidence must 'undermine' the prosecution's entire case. In is not sufficient that the evidence might have weakened the prosecution case or presented a more difficult question for the judge or jury. [Citations.]" (*Id.* at p. 1017 citing *In re Clark*, *supra.*)

DNA results discussed here that the Petitioner claimed "conclusively bear witness to his innocence." (Petition, p. 2:2-3.) This exuberance is unjustified in light of the ambiguities obvious in the The mere presence of the DNA does not, in fact, exonerate petitioner. Nor is it conclusive. All it shows is that, at some point, someone touched, sneezed, spoke over or handled the stepping stone. It does not negate the myriad of elements of motive, both financial and romantic, the impression of multiple law enforcement officials that something was just not right given the circumstances and petitioner's peculiar familiarity with the scene, the witness interview reports tending to show a violent relationship between petitioner and the victim or the hard evidence negating the presence of anyone else at the crime scene but the victim and petitioner.

Contrary to the trial court's findings, nothing petitioner has presented "completely undermined" the entire state's case. Petitioner's alternative theories regarding the alleged presence of a third party at the scene are purely speculative. Conflicting expert testimony about the possible historical nature of a hair does not undermine the state's entire case. The presence of unknown male DNA on the stepping-stone is easily explained, and was so at trial. Use of Adobe Photoshop techniques were, according to petitioner's own witnesses, being enlisted around the time of the jury's 1997 guilty verdict. That petitioner happened upon a different strategy through a different lawyer, does not support a claim of

"new" evidence. All of the parties have been well-aware of the photo distortion issues since the inception of this criminal case. It is not new evidence.

Motive and opportunity do not lie. Nor does the fact that the People presented ample evidence at trial that the crime scene had been substantially manipulated. Nor does the fact that no evidence of another person's presence was ever found at the scene. Nor does the fact the physical evidence at the scene did not comport with petitioner's version of events. Petitioner failed to produce conclusive "new" evidence that undermines the prosecution's entire case and points unerringly to his innocence. His theories were speculative at best. The Court of Appeal agreed. Petitioner's evidence is not enough.

II. DR. SPERBER'S ALLEGED "RECANTATION" OF HIS EARLIER STATISITCAL ESTIMATE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE "FALSE EVIDENCE."

Prior to being amended in 1975, Penal Code § 1473 did not specify any specific grounds for relief. 14 There was no dispute that habeas relief pursuant to section 1473 predicated on a theory of "false evidence" meant the "false evidence" constituted perjury. (*People v. Marshall* (1996) 13 Cal. 4th 799, 830; *In re Wright* (1978) 78 Cal. App. 3d 788, 807.) In other words, the evidence was not allegedly "false" in the sense that a petitioner, who lost the argument at trial regarding the correctness of the evidence, would like to re-open that argument on habeas. It was also

Prior to amendment in 1975, Penal Code § 1975 simply stated: "Every person unlawfully committed, detained, confined or restrained of his liberty, under any pretense whatever, may prosecute a writ of habeas corpus, to inquire into the cause of such imprisonment or restraint."

required that the prosecution knew the evidence was perjured, and that the perjury affected the outcome of the trial. (*Ibid.*)

In 1975, Penal Code § 1473 was amended to provide in pertinent part:

- (a) Every person unlawfully committed, detained, confined or restrained of his liberty, under any pretense whatever, may prosecute a writ of habeas corpus, to inquire into the cause of such imprisonment or restraint.
- (b) A writ of habeas corpus may be prosecuted for, but not limited to, the following reasons:
 - (1) False evidence that is substantially material or probative on the issue of guilt or punishment was introduced against a person at any hearing or trial relating to his incarceration;

In *Wright*, *supra*, the Court of Appeal noted that the section's reference to "false evidence," rather than to perjury, did away with the element – required for a conviction on a charge of perjury – that "the testimony given could have probably influenced the tribunal before which the cause was being tried." (*In re Wright*, *supra*, 78 Cal.App.3d 788, 809, fn. 5.) However, the Court of Appeal in *Wright*, *supra*, made no suggestion that a witness's mere mistake (or a later court's belief the witness made a mistake) would amount to a showing of "false evidence."

That fact notwithstanding, this Court would later, in *In re Hall* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 408, incorrectly cite to *Wright* as authority for the proposition that a showing of "false evidence" could be made merely by reference to a witness's *innocent* statement, if later evidence convinced a judicial officer that the statement "apparently" was *incorrect*. (30 Cal.3d 408, 424.) Since then, *Hall* has been cited in conjunction with *Wright* for

the indisputably correct point that *perjury* need not be shown. (See *People v. Marshall* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 799, 830.¹⁵) However, it does not appear that this Court has since condoned *Hall's* mistaken assertion that an apparently incorrect statement, innocently made, can amount to "false" evidence. And, at a minimum this Court has made perfectly clear that a "false evidence" claim will not serve as sufficient disguise for a habeas petitioner's desire to argue that jurors reached an erroneous conclusion from the trial evidence – even if the habeas petitioner manages to convince a referee to find the facts differently than did the trial jury. (*See In re Bell* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 630.)

Given the nature of expert testimony, it is clear that any definition of "false evidence" does not provide the proper framework for a claim predicated upon an expert changing their opinion from that considered by the jury at trial.

Dr. Sperber was qualified and accepted by the Court as an expert. The mere fact that Dr. Sperber testified regarding petitioner's dentition is nothing more than opinion. The testimony was not false. Labeling Dr. Sperber's trial testimony "false" in light of his subsequent criticism of his characterizations of the bite mark evidence at trial incorrectly frames the issue. Because Dr. Sperber was an expert witness offering opinion testimony at trial, the post-conviction focus is properly whether and to what extent new evidence (i.e., a new opinion) affects his credibility as an expert, and the corresponding weight that his original opinion testimony

Respondent does not dispute that the materiality element of the crime of perjury has been supplanted, for the purpose of the habeas statute, with a separate description that the evidence is "substantially material or probative on the issue of guilt or punishment." (Penal Code § 1473(b)(1).)

continues to carry. As the United States Supreme Court stated in an analogous context in *Schlup v. Delo* (1995) 513 U.S. 298, "newly presented evidence may indeed call into question the credibility of the witnesses presented at trial. In such a case, the habeas court may have to make some credibility assessments." (*Id.* at p. 330.) While a changed expert opinion may indeed constitute new evidence (see *Souter v. Jones* (6th Cir. 2005) 395 F.3d 577, 592-593), its significance for purposes of habeas litigation should be framed in terms of its impact on the ongoing weight that should be accorded the opinion(s) offered at trial. In this sense an expert is unlike a percipient witness, whose testimony at trial is more susceptible to labels such as "true" and "false."

At trial, jurors are not instructed to evaluate expert witness testimony on a simplistic true/false basis. Rather, they are required to decide the "meaning and importance of any opinion" by considering "the expert's knowledge, skill, experience, training, and education, the reasons the expert gave for any opinion, and the facts or information on which the expert relied in reaching that opinion." (CALCRIM No. 332; see also Evidence Code § 721(a).) It is not the prerogative of a post-conviction court to disregard the law's nuanced approach to expert scientific testimony, and override fact finders' credibility determinations, by uncritically assuming the truth of one opinion and the falsity of another opinion. This is so even when the opinions are rendered by the same person at different times.

After all, and taking a broader perspective, scientific evidence itself cannot be evaluated on a strict and standalone true/false basis. All scientific evidence carries with it a risk of uncertainty, because that is the nature of science. (See, e.g., Greenland, *The Need For Critical*

Appraisal Of Expert Witnesses In Epidemiology And Statistics (2004) 39 Wake Forest L. Rev. 291, 293 [describing the reality of competing scientific theories, diversity of opinions among scientists, and the need to remain open-minded and critical of one's own theories].) Jurors are often presented with dueling and contradictory expert opinions in a case, yet routinely accept an opinion as credible and reject another. Likewise, an expert witness's changed opinion years after a trial merely presents a new element with which to evaluate the ongoing credibility of the trial opinion, which may or may not have had much to begin with. "True or false," in any case, is not the measure.

Dr. Sperber was not forced into testifying the way he did. He did so under penalty of perjury and with the benefit of a lengthy odontological career to support his opinion. The fact that, over a decade later and after being contacted by defense counsel, Dr. Sperber thinks perhaps he should not have placed a statistical value upon petitioner's dental defect does not render his trial testimony "false". Instead, his change of opinion may be attributed, perhaps even solely, to the benefit of additional years of dental practice and experience. Nothing more.

Petitioner's claim that the trial prosecutor should not have used the two-percent statistic in his closing argument is similarly unpersuasive as jurors were admonished that closing arguments do not constitute

A necessary policy consideration is presented if petitioner's argument regarding Dr. Sperber's "hindsight" is rendered viable. It would be a particularly troubling position to encourage experts, whether defense or prosecution, to avoid schooling themselves on developments within their respective fields and, rather, languish in stagnant knowledge. Dr. Sperber had the benefit of a decade of additional study and experience when petitioner's counsel obtained his declaration. Thus, it is entirely foreseeable that his opinion would be malleable.

evidence in accordance with well-accepted case law. Simply, petitioner's evidence is not enough.

PETITIONER CANNOT SHOW THAT THE CHANGE IN SPERBER'S TESTIMONY EVEN BEGINS TO "COMPLETELY UNDERMINE" THE PROSECUTION'S CASE.

Petitioner has attempted to undo his conviction with the claim that, inter alia, bite mark evidence offered at his third trial was flawed and that the People's expert, Dr. Norman Sperber, has established by declaration and testimony that the earlier testimony was "false." He then concludes that this "recantation," if it even were that, entitles him to relief. This is wrong at every turn.

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